Obesity and thyroid cancer

Tamara Mijovic¹, Jacques How², Richard J. Payne¹

¹Department of Otolaryngology and Head and Neck Surgery, McGill University, Montreal, Quebec, Canada, ² Division of Endocrinology, Montreal General Hospital, McGill University, Montreal, Quebec, Canada

TABLE OF CONTENTS

```
1 Abstract
2. Introduction
3. The Underlying Evidence
       3.1. Population-based studies
               3.1.1. Case-control studies
               3.1.2. Prospective cohort studies
       3.2. Sub-population-based studies
               3.2.1. The obese population
               3.2.2. The population with thyroid nodules
4. Pathogenesis – The Hypotheses
       4.1. Endocrinology
               4.1.1. Insulin and IGF-1
               4.1.2. Cytokines
                      4.1.2.1. Chronic inflammation
                      4.1.2.2. COX-2
                      4.1.2.3. Leptin
                      4.1.2.4. Adiponectin
               4.1.3. Sex hormones
               4.1.4. TSH
               4.1.5. Vitamin D
       4.2. Toxins
               4.2.1. Diet and food
               4.2.2. The storage hypothesis
5. Conclusion
6. References
```

1. ABSTRACT

With the current trend of alarming rise in obesity rates, the health impacts of excess weight will become more apparent. While an increased incidence of cardiovascular disease and diabetes mellitus has been well documented, the association between obesity and carcinogenesis is just being appreciated and is receiving increasing attention. The current review focuses on the evidence linking thyroid cancer with obesity. We conclude that there is sufficient evidence that obesity can predispose to an increased risk of thyroid cancer in both men and women. This population-based association is mainly explained at a biological level through specific obesity-related endocrinopathies.

2. INTRODUCTION

The growing global epidemic of excess weight and obesity (1,2) has been shown to be associated with serious health impacts including hypertension, type 2 diabetes mellitus, dyslipidemia, cardiovascular disease, metabolic syndrome and musculoskeletal disorders (3). Accumulating epidemiologic evidence also shows that excess weight is linked with an increased risk of several common adult cancers (4). Breast, endometrial, prostate and colon cancer are the most cited malignancies where excess body fatness is recognized as an important risk factor (4-8). However, several other cancers have been linked with obesity, including thyroid cancer (5).

In the last decade, thyroid cancer incidence rose annually by 5.8% among men and 7.1% among women in the US, a more rapid increase than for any other cancer site, thus bringing thyroid malignancy as the seventh most common cancer in women in the US (9,10). Similar data has also been reported by several other industrialized nations, including Canada, Sweden, Norway and Great Britain (11,12). This pronounced upward trend can be explained by an improved detection of very small papillary tumours and revisions in diagnostic criteria, but it is likely that changes in environmental risk factors are also playing an important role (9). From radiation exposure from computed tomography imaging (13) to dietary changes, passing through female hormonal and reproductive factors, it is clear that etiologic heterogeneity is at play in the pathogenesis of thyroid cancer (11).

Interestingly, the rise in thyroid cancer incidence parallels the increasing trend of obesity, and one could wonder about a possible etiological relationship. Indeed, the most recent prospective studies seem to suggest that obesity might be one important underlying factor at least partially explaining the rising frequency of thyroid cancer (9). The present article is a review of the evidence linking thyroid malignancy with obesity with a special emphasis on the possible pathways of pathogenesis.

3. THE UNDERLYING EVIDENCE

3.1. Population-based studies 3.1.1. Case-control studies

thyroid cancer Historically, is relatively uncommon, accounting for less then 2% of all malignancies in Canada and worldwide (11). The search for its etiology was therefore started through a case-control approach, with eleven such published studies in 2000 looking at the effect of body mass index (BMI) on thyroid cancer risk (14-24). There was, however, considerable heterogeneity between studies as to the actual relationship between BMI and thyroid malignancy with only two studies documenting an increase in thyroid cancer among women with higher BMI. (17, 20) while no significant association was described in the other studies. In 2000, a pooled analysis of twelve casecontrol studies conducted around the world (the eleven previously mentioned studies and one personal unpublished communication) concluded that the BMI at the time of diagnosis was associated with a small increase in thyroid cancer risk in women only (odd ratio of 1.2 for the highest tertile of BMI with a 95%CI: 1.0-1.4), with a similar magnitude in older postmenopausal women as in the younger ones (25). The association was similar for both papillary and follicular phenotype of thyroid cancer (25).

Following the pooled analysis, a few additional well-controlled studies were published, but their results continue to feed the controversy on the relationship between thyroid cancer and obesity. Indeed, a case-control study of 292 premenopausal women with thyroid cancer from the Los Angeles county showed that BMI was not associated with thyroid cancer risk (26).

Conversely, in New Caledonia, a study with 332

cases of thyroid cancer found a strong positive association with weight and BMI in Melanesian women aged 50 years or more, with an odds ratio of 5.5 for BMI above 35 kg/m² compared with normal-weight women, with a clear doseresponse trend. No association with BMI was found in men (27). Similarly, a case-control study of 219 patients with differentiated thyroid cancer among native-residents of French Polynesia found that women who were overweight or obese at age 18 and before diagnosis had an increased risk compared with those with a normal lifelong weight (Odds ratio of 6.2; 95% CI 2.5-15.5; p less than 0.01) (28).

At the same time, a Japanese case-control study of 173 cases of thyroid cancer showed that body size at the age of 20 as well as at the time of diagnosis was associated with an increased risk of thyroid cancer in both men and women, with the current BMI adjusted odds ratio for thyroid cancer being 1.71 (95%CI 1.06-2.78; trend p equal to 0.034). There was no association between thyroid cancer risk and change in anthropometric factors since age 20 years (29).

Overall, the case-control studies conducted up to now seem to suggest that obesity is linked with thyroid cancer in women and such a relationship is likely stronger in postmenopausal women. There is, however, a debatable level of evidence for the existence of such a relationship in men, but it is possible that the lower incidence of thyroid malignancy in males and the small number of cases makes it harder to draw any significant conclusions.

3.1.2. Prospective cohort studies

The relationship between thyroid cancer and obesity has been investigated in eight cohort studies (9,30-36) out of which five were included in a meta-analysis (5). Despite the prospective nature of these studies and the large population sizes, controversial results still persist.

Indeed, two large population-based studies (the first undertaken in 204,964 subjects from the San Francisco Bay area followed for a median of 20 years (30) and the second involving 145,000 Austrian adults followed over an average of 9.9 years (31)) showed no correlation between an increased BMI and increased risk of thyroid malignancy for both sexes.

In studies conducted exclusively in men, variable results were also obtained. In one large cohort of male US veterans (3,668,486 whites; 832,214 blacks) the diagnosis of obesity was associated with an increased risk of thyroid cancer for both white and black men to a similar extent (respectively, RR:1.4; 95%CI 1.09-1.18 and RR:1.92; 95%CI 1.09-3.4) (32). Similarly, in a 10-year follow-up cohort of 781,283 Korean men there was a significant positive dose-dependent relationships between BMI and thyroid cancer. In this population, it was estimated that the population-attributable fraction of obesity-related thyroid cancer was 18.4% (95%CI: 9.0-26.8) (34). However, no clear association was observed in a study of 362,552 Swedish construction workers where obesity was associated with a relative risk for thyroid cancer of 0.98 (95%CI 0.49-1.96, p-trend equal to 0.48) (33).

Several prospective studies have documented the significant impact of obesity on thyroid cancer risk in women. In a cohort study of 22 964 Icelanders, weight, BMI, body surface area and body fat were significant positive risk factors for thyroid cancer in females (35). Remaining in the Scandinavian region, a study of 2 million Norwegians showed a moderately increased relative risk of thyroid cancer for a BMI of 30 kg/m² or more for all women, but no difference in magnitude with respect to age was noted (RR:1.25; 95% CI 1.04-1.51; p equal to 0.04 for women under the age of 50, and RR:1.31; 95%CI 1.09-1.57; p equal to 0.001 for women of 50 years and older) (36). The anthropomorphic measures were, however, taken on average 15 years before the diagnosis of cancer, and the weight gain occurring at the time of menopause might have not been taken into account. Histology specific analyses revealed that the relative risk of follicular carcinoma increased more than the risk of papillary carcinoma with increased BMI, in both men and women (36). In the most recent prospective study of 90 713 US radiologic technologists, a BMI over 35 was associated with a moderately elevated risk in women only (hazard ratio 1.74 CI:1.03-2.94, p equal to 0.04) (9). This study estimated that 6% of thyroid cancer is attributable to obesity in this cohort where obesity prevalence was 11%. In the US adult population, where the prevalence of obesity is 33%, this translates to a population attributable risk of 17% (9).

Finally, a meta-analysis of prospective observational studies on the link between obesity and 20 cancer types has found that a 5 kg/m² increase in BMI was strongly associated with thyroid cancer in men with a relative risk of 1.33 (95% CI: 1.04-1.70; p equal to 0.02), and a weaker, but positive, association was noted in women with a relative risk of 1.14 (95% CI: 1.06-1.23; p equal to 0.001) (5).

Overall, most prospective studies seem to suggest the existence of a positive relationship between obesity and thyroid cancer for both men and women.

3.2. Sub-population-based studies 3.2.1.The obese population

A team in Rome (Italy) studied a large population of obese individuals and found a 31% prevalence of single cold nodule (37) with an 8% occurrence of carcinoma (38) which was considered higher than the one reported in their normal-weight subjects (5-6%). They therefore concluded that obese individuals appear more likely than non-obese ones to have thyroid nodules harboring malignancy. The level of statistical significance was, however, not reported.

3.2.2. The population with thyroid nodules

One study investigated the significance of obesity in a population of patients with thyroid nodule and an indeterminate pre-operative fine-needle aspiration biopsy (39). For the first time, a significant dose-dependant protective effect of obesity was documented in women under the age of 45 years and men of all ages. In addition to sound biological bases, the diametric discrepancy between these results and those reported in the literature was explained by the uniqueness of the population studied

where obesity might be playing a different role, modulating rather than etiologic, since lesions already exist in all patients. Nevertheless, further research in this population of patients appears necessary to fully validate the subtle relationship at play between excess weight and thyroid malignancy.

From case-control studies to large prospective cohort studies and their respective meta-analyses, there is a moderate level of evidence suggesting that obesity is likely to be a risk factor for the development of thyroid malignancy in both men and women. The different putative pathways and biologic bases to such relationships are discussed in the following section. The impact of obesity in patients with thyroid nodules still remains controversial and would benefit from future larger controlled studies.

4. PATHOGENESIS - THE HYPOTHESES

With the rise of obesity in most industrialized nations and its significance at a public health level, scientific literature on the carcinogenic pathways of obesity is growing at an exponential rate. In this section, we will explore the various factors and proposed mechanisms linking obesity and an increased risk for thyroid cancer.

4.1. Endocrinology

Numerous studies have emphasized that the regulation of thyroid cell growth and function involves a complex interactive network of trophic endocrine, paracrine and autocrine factors. With respect to obesity and thyroid malignancy, it is likely that insulin/insulin-like growth factor 1 (IGF-1), adipose tissue-generated cytokines (adipokines), alterations in sex hormones, thyroid stimulating hormone (TSH) and vitamin D are all important endocrine factors at play providing biological grounds to the positive relationship encountered.

4.1.1.Insulin and IGF-1

Obesity is associated with insulin resistance, compensatory hyperinsulinemia and increased growth-factor production, which in turn may stimulate mitogenesis and carcinogenesis, thus linking obesity and malignancies throughout the body.

Chronic elevation of insulin is associated with increased availability of IGF-14 through insulin-mediated upregulation of growth hormone (GH) receptors in the liver.

Both insulin and IGF-1 have been shown to act as cancer promoting agents (40). In thyroid, TSH receptor gene expression and thyroglobulin gene expression are influenced by insulin/IGF-1 at a transcriptional level. Both hormones are considered necessary co-factors for the action of TSH on thyroid follicular cells, synergizing with TSH to induce thyrocyte proliferation while maintaining differentiated function (41). Traditionally, they are not considered mitogenic agents and their role is described as rather permissive for TSH-mediated thyroid cell stimulation (40). There is, however, increasing evidence showing over-expression of IGF-1 and IGF-1 receptors in

thyroid cancer with positive correlation with tumour diameter and intrathyroidal extension (42). In addition, in humans, it has been recorded that thyroid tumours produce increased levels of IGF-1 (41). It is thus possible that in a pathological state, the proliferative effect of insulin and IGF-1 might be greater than traditionally demonstrated.

Moreover, IGF-1 inhibits apoptosis through the PI3K/AKT cell survival pathway4 and stimulates vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) synthesis in thyroid carcinomas (40). It also inhibits the synthesis of the sex-hormone-binding globulin (SHBG), thus increasing the levels of free sex hormones and promoting sex hormone-dependent tumorigenesis which is discussed more in detail in the following section (4).

Insulin resistance has recently been studied in patients with thyroid pathologies. Patients with insulin resistance were shown to have larger thyroid volumes and a higher prevalence of thyroid nodules (43). In addition, a case-control study of 20 women with differentiated thyroid cancer and their age, gender and BMI-matched euthyroid controls, showed an insulin resistance incidence of 50% in patients with thyroid cancer compared to 10% in their cancer-free controls (p less than 0.001) (43). These results provide further evidence, at the clinical level, that a high circulating insulin level might be an important risk factor for developing differentiated thyroid carcinoma.

4.1.2. Cytokines

Adipose tissue is the largest endocrine organ in the body (7) that secretes a variety of factors including cytokines and hormone-like substances such as leptin and adiponectin.

4.1.2.1. Chronic inflammation

As the expanding adipose tissue outgrows its blood supply, a low-grade of hypoxia induces cytokine release to stimulate angiogenesis. The vast majority of these are proinflammatory substances such as tumour necrosis factor alpha (TNF-alpha), interleukin (IL) 6, 8, 10, thus linking obesity to a chronic state of low-grade inflammation. These inflammatory mediators are known for their ability to alter tumorigenesis in several cancer types through increased cell cycling, loss of tumour suppressor function, stimulation of oncogene expression and formation of reactive oxygen species (4). One well demonstrated mechanism is the cytokine induced increase in NF-kappa-B, a nuclear factor that is a very strong inducer of antiapoptotic activity, thus linking inflammation and cancer at a molecular level (43).

In thyroid cancer, studies have demonstrated that growth of thyroid cells can be stimulated by some of the cytokines, namely IL-1-alpha, IL-6, IL-4 and IL-10 and that those are closely linked with the RET/PTC3 oncogenic mutation (44). In addition, TNF-alpha and IL-6 can act in either autocrine or paracrine manners to increase the production of aromatase that is directly related to increased synthesis of peripheral estrogen which correlates with higher rates of thyroid cancer, as explained in the following section (45).

4.1.2.2. COX-2

Cyclooxygenase-2 (COX-2) is an inducible enzyme upregulated during cell proliferation and inflammation in response to multiple stimuli. More recently, COX-2 has been implicated in the development of numerous types of epithelial cancers (4). The contribution of COX-2 carcinogenesis is related to its abilities to increase production of prostaglandins, procarcinogens into carcinogens, inhibit apoptosis, promote angiogenesis, modulate inflammation and immune function and increase tumour cell invasiveness (4). It is known that COX-2 is expressed in thyroid epithelial including papillary neoplasms, and follicular carcinomas, but not in normal thyroid tissue (46). Although data is lacking for the thyroid, it has been demonstrated in other epithelial tumors that COX-2 deregulation in normal mucosa might be driven by excess weight (47). It is therefore possible that obesity driven induction of COX-2 is involved in thyroid cancer

4.1.2.3. Leptin

Leptin, the product of obesity gene (Ob), is a 16 kDa protein hormone produced predominantly by adipocytes in direct proportion to the amount of body fat, that acts through the leptin receptor (Ob-R), a member of class I cytokine receptor family (48-50). It relays information regarding the level of energy stored, thereby directing the regulation of energy homeostasis, neuroendocrine function and metabolism (51). In addition to its role in energy balance, leptin is a crucial hormonal factor for regulating several other physiologic processes, including inflammation, angiogenesis, hematopoiesis, immune function and reproduction (52).

Because leptin is elevated in the serum of obese individuals in direct correlation to the fat mass, it has been investigated as a possible biological link between obesity and various types of cancers (48). Aberrant expression of leptin and Ob-R has been observed in several types of cancers, including endometrial cancer, colorectal cancer, breast cancer, gastric cancer, hepatoma and most recently papillary thyroid cancer (50) where the expression of either proteins was associated with larger tumor size, (50) higher incidence of nodal metastases (50) and poor disease-free survival (53). This relationship is unlikely to be simple and linear, as no study up to date demonstrated that patients with greater body weight have larger thyroid tumors or a greater likelihood of nodal metastases.

The carcinogenic effect of leptin appears to be mediated through its ability to act as a mitogen and an angiogenic factor. Indeed, it has been shown that leptin can regulate neoangiogenesis by itself and in concert with vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) and fibroblast growth factor (FGF) 2. This adipokine can also enhance endothelial cell growth and suppression of apoptosis through a Bcl-2 dependent mechanism. The role of leptin in neovascularisation is supported additionally by the observation that the hormone can increase the levels and activity of enzymes involved in angiogenesis (48).

At the level of the thyroid, in vitro studies show that leptin stimulates proliferation of thyroid papillary cancer and inhibits apoptosis through activation of phosphatidylinositol 3' kinase (PI3K)/protein kinase B (AKT) signaling pathway via the Ob-R (53). In addition, leptin has been shown to stimulate thyrotropin-releasing hormone (TRH) expression in the hypothalamus, and subsequently production of TSH, (54) which in rats correlated to higher thyroid gland weight with exogenous leptin administration (55). It therefore appears that increased levels of leptin in obesity can stimulate thyroid malignancy directly through Ob-R but also indirectly through increased levels of TSH. Clinically, a case-control study of 43 euthyroid women with papillary thyroid carcinoma showed that serum leptin levels were significantly higher in the patients with papillary thyroid cancer compared to the healthy controls (49). There was however no difference in BMI between the two groups, and leptin levels significantly decreased following total thyroidectomy in patients with papillary thyroid carcinoma, perhaps hinting that the relationship between leptin and thyroid carcinoma might be more complex that initially envisioned

4.1.2.4. Adiponectin

Adiponectin is the most abundant peptide secreted by adipose cells, and is inversely related to body fat (56). Indeed, circulating concentrations of adiponectin are reduced in obesity, type 2 diabetes and congenital lipodystrophic syndromes and have a strong inverse association with parameters of central and overall obesity, independently of age, menopausal status and estradiol concentrations (7).

Adiponectin is considered to have beneficial antineoplasic actions through well demonstrated antiproliferative, anti-inflammatory and antiangiogenic effects along with its ability to antagonize insulin resistance (7). Several tumour cell lines express adiponectin receptors, and these beneficial effects have been documented in breast, endometrial, prostate, colon, gastric, renal and hematologic cancers (7). However, there are no studies conducted up to now that document the effects or presence of adiponectin receptor on benign or malignant thyrocytes.

4.1.3. Sex hormones

The incidence of thyroid cancer is known to be three to five times higher in women than in men, and this female excess is greatest from ages 14-54, with a decrease noted after the menopause (24,57). The difference in incidence between the genders suggests that growth and progression of thyroid tumours is influenced by sex hormones, particularly estrogens (5). Excess body fatness-mediated changes in circulating concentrations of endogenous hormones provide additional biological grounds to explain the relationship between obesity and thyroid cancer.

Indeed, as previously mentioned, adipose tissue is an active endocrine and metabolic organ that has an important impact on the synthesis and bioavailability of endogenous sex steroids. In obese premenopausal women, an increased frequency of anovulation is noted, which has been shown to decrease serum estradiol and progesterone levels (6,58). In addition, the increased leptin levels from fat stores of obese young women inhibit ovarian estrogen production (58).

In postmenopausal women, the conversion of androstenedione into estrone by aromatase in adipose tissue provides an important and continuous source of estrogen whose production is related to the size of adipose tissue (56). In premenopausal women where cyclic hormone levels predominate, the peripheral conversion of adrostenedione is believed to be insignificant (58). Thus, excess fatness might decrease estrogen levels in obese premenopausal women while contributing to higher levels in obese postmenopausal women. In man, obesity has also been associated with lower levels of total testosterone as a result of decreased sex-hormone binding proteins (3,59).

At the level of the thyroid, the presence of estrogen (60) and testosterone (59) receptors has been well established, and both hormones modify the proliferation of thyroid cancer cells, independently of TSH (3). The human thyroid follicular cells are known to express estrogen receptors alpha (ER-alpha) and beta (ER-beta), whose effects on the thyrocytes are antagonistic, with ER-alpha inducing proliferation and ER-beta promoting apoptosis and decreased proliferation (57). Studies have shown that estradiol administration increases the level of ER-alpha in follicular cells while the level of ER-beta remains unchanged (57). In parallel, analyses of malignant thyrocytes demonstrate an increased expression of ERalpha in thyroid cancer cells, and low or absent expression of ER-beta (57). In addition, a significantly higher increase in ER-alpha receptors has been noted in females in response to 17-beta-estradiol, the natural form of estrogen (61). Therefore, with higher estrogen levels, the balance of ER-alpha versus ER-beta is affected favoring proliferation and cancer promotion, with such a response being even more pronounced in females.

Besides the receptor-mediated hormonal activity, an array of mechanisms to explain the estrogen carcinogenic effect has emerged. It has been hypothesized that the natural estrogen or its metabolites may directly induce neoplastic transformation of the normal cell (57). At the level of the thyroid, a case-control study has found an imbalance between the proliferative (16-alphahydroxyestrone) and anti-proliferative (2-hydroxyestrone) estrogen metabolites to be associated to proliferative thyroid disease with the least favorable ratios measured in malignant cases (60). It is also thought that estrogens may generate a direct genotoxic effect to increase mutation rates through a cytochrome-mediated metabolic activation (57). Finally, estrogen may impair the formation of mitotic spindles and thus contribute to chromosomal nondisjunction and aneuploidy induction (57).

At a population level, different female reproductive factors have been investigated for their relationship to thyroid cancer. A pooled analysis of 13 case-control studies concluded that the use of oral contraceptives is associated

with a moderate increased risk of developing thyroid cancer (62). Some studies have also found that a longer reproductive period correlated with papillary thyroid cancer (63-65) while higher parity was also shown by some, (65,66) but not others, (63,64) to be associated with increased risk of thyroid malignancy. In the presence of such a relationship, it was hypothesized that elevated estrogens associated with pregnancy could induce proliferation of malignant thyroid cells (65). All these associations further strengthen the existence of a possible role of female hormones in thyroid cancer promotion.

Although it appears clear that higher estrogen levels are linked to thyroid carcinogenesis both at a molecular and a population level, its role as a causative factor explaining the association between excess weight and risk of thyroid cancer appears applicable for postmenopausal women only, as they are the only subgroup where obesity has been linked with overall increase in female hormones.

4.1.4. TSH

Thyroid function with its effects on metabolism and body weight is always a possible factor in any relationship between obesity and thyroid cancer. Goiter and benign thyroid disease are the strongest risk factors for thyroid cancer (apart from radiation exposure) (67) and reduced thyroid activity can lead to depressed tissue oxidation and increased weight. However, virtually all patients with thyroid carcinoma are euthyroid (68) and prior history of hypothyroidism was not associated with increased cancer risk (67). Nevertheless, TSH is known to have a trophic effect on thyroid cancer growth, and it has been demonstrated that the risk of malignancy rises in parallel with the serum TSH concentration at presentation, allowing subclinical hypothyroidism and even concentrations in the upper half of the normal range to increase the risk of malignancy in the euthyroid patients (68). Since then, it has been reconfirmed on multiple occasions that the likelihood of thyroid cancer increases with higher serum TSH concentration, even in euthyroid subjects (68-70).

At the same time, some, but not all, (71) studies have demonstrated that a higher level of serum TSH, even within the normal range, is positively correlated to obesity (72-74). Borderline elevated TSH levels are reversible in case of body weight reduction in obese individuals (75). It remains, however, unclear whether high TSH levels are responsible for obesity or represent a secondary phenomenon.

Overall, higher levels of TSH appear to be linked to both obesity and thyroid cancer, but the exact nature of the role of TSH in this relationship as a common underlying cause or a step in the pathogenesis still remains to be clarified.

4.1.5. Vitamin D

In addition to metabolic alterations, obese individuals are known to have reduced serum levels of 25-hydroxyvitamin D, (76-81) and the most recent studies have also documented a significantly lower serum

concentrations of 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D with increased BMI (80-82). This hormone, in addition to its role in calcium homeostasis, has been recognized to play a role in the modulation of the proliferation and differentiation of several cell types (83). In vitro studies have demonstrated that vitamin D inhibits the proliferation of welldifferentiated thyroid cancer cells through G1-phase arrest in a dose-dependent manner (83,84). Therefore, as vitamin D is suggested to be to be protective in terms of thyroid cancer, insufficient levels of this hormone might be contributing to an increased cancer risk in individuals with excess weight. In this respect, two studies have reported lower circulating levels of 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D in patients with differentiated thyroid carcinoma compared with healthy controls, although no differences of serum 25hydroxyvitamin D level were found (85,86).

4.2. Toxins

4.2.1. Diet and food

Body weight and height being the result of energy balance and nutrition, diet could be involved in the observed links between BMI and thyroid cancer. Previous studies have mainly looked into the effects of consumption of cruciferous vegetables, known to contain goitrogenic substances (22,26,87-89) and iodine deficiency or excess (22,26,88,89) on the incidence of thyroid cancer. A pooled analysis has shown that cruciferous vegetables are not positively related to increased risk of thyroid cancer, but appear rather protective, and no difference between iodinerich or iodine-deficient areas was detectable (88). This could be explained by the presence of a variety of other constituents in cruciferous vegetables, such as flavones, phenols, isothiocyantes and beta-carotene that are known to inhibit carcinogenesis. Similarly, obese patients are likely consuming diets rich not only with calories, but also with proteins and other essential nutrients that might be protective. In marked contrast, however, Truong and her colleagues recently reported that high consumption of cruciferous vegetables was associated with thyroid cancer but this was significant only in women with low iodine intake (90). It is thus possible that iodine intake in a given individual may modulate any potential link between consumption of cruciferous vegetables and thyroid cancer risk.

One study has also documented an increased risk of thyroid cancer with high consumption of butter and starchy food such as pasta, rice and bread which would have a direct effect on body weight (89). These foods and their constituents most likely have no direct effect on the thyroid, and the risk of cancer is suspected mediated through hyperglycemia (40).

Overall, it appears unlikely that increased consumption of carcinogenic substances is underlying the relationship between obesity and thyroid cancer.

4.2.2. The storage hypothesis

A number of goitrogenic and carcinogenic chemicals and pollutants have been identified as initiators and promoters of thyroid carcinogenesis (89). It has been hypothesized that excess adipose tissue can act as a

reservoir for lipophilic, liposoluble environmental carcinogens and release them at convenient dose in the blood circulation thus targeting peripheral tissue and inducing carcinogensis (3). This hypothesis has not yet been demonstrated in the case of thyroid cancer.

5. CONCLUSION

With the current trends of alarming rise in obesity rates, the health impacts of excess weight will become more apparent. The current review focused on the evidence linking thyroid cancer with obesity. We conclude that there is sufficient evidence that obesity can predispose to an increased risk of thyroid cancer in both men and women. This population-based association is mainly explained at a biological level through specific obesity-related endocrinopathies. The detailed pathways are however complex, several aspects are still very poorly understood and numerous questions remain: What is the role of COX-2 in thyroid carcinogenesis and what is its relation to excess weight? Are there adiponectin receptors on thyroid cells? In the association between TSH and obesity, which one is causing the other?

6. REFERENCES

- 1. Tremblay M, Katzmarzyk PT, Willms JD: Temporal trends in overweight and obesity in Canada, 1981-1996. *Int J Obes* 26, 538-543 (2002)
- 2. Flegal K, Carroll MD, Ogden CL, Johnson CL: Prevalence and trends in obesity among US adults 1999–2000. *JAMA* 288, 1723–1727 (2002)
- 3. Irigaray P, Newby JA, Lacomme S, Belpomme D: Overweight/obesity and cancer genesis: more than a biological link. *Biomed Pharmacother* 61, 665–678 (2007)
- 4. Pothiwala P, Jain SK, Yaturu S: Metabolic Syndrome and Cancer. *Metabolic Syndrome and Related Disorders* 7, 279-287 (2009)
- 5. Renehan A, Tsyan M, Egger M, Heller RF, Zwahlen M: Body-mass index and incidence of cancer: a systematic review and meta-analysis of prospective observational studies. *Lancet* 371, 569–578 (2008)
- 6. Yumuk V and Yumuk PF: What links obesity to cancer? *Indoor Built Environ* 14, 527–532 (2005)
- 7. Barb D, Williams CJ, Neuwirth AK, Mantzoros CS: Adiponectin in relation to malignancies: a review of existing basic research and clinical evidence. *Am J Clin Nutr* 86(supp), 858S-866S (2007)
- 8. Wolk A, Gridley G, Svensson M, Nyren O, McLaughlin JK: A prospective study of obesity and cancer risk (Sweden). *Cancer Causes Control* 12, 13-21 (2001)
- 9. Meinhold C, Ron E, Schonfeld SJ, Alexander BH, Freedman DM, Linet MS, Berrington de Gonzalez A: Nonradiation Risk Factors for Thyroid Cancer in the US

- Radiologic Technologists Study. Am J Epidemiol 171, 242-252 (2010)
- 10. Davies L, Welch HG: Increasing incidence of thyroid cancer in the United States, 1973-2002. *JAMA* 295, 2164-2167 (2006)
- 11. Liu S, Semenciw R, Ugnat A-M, Mao Y: Increasing thyroid cancer incidence in Canada, 1970-1996: time trends and age-period-cohort effect. *Br J Cancer* 85, 1335-1339(2001)
- 12. Kent W, Hall SF, Isotalo PA, et al. Kent W, Hall SF, Isotalo PA, Houlden RL, George RL, Groome PA: Increased incidence of differentiated thyroid cancer and detection of subclinical disease. *CMAJ* 177, 1357-1361(2007)
- 13. How J and Tabah R: Explaining the increasing incidence of differentiated thyroid cancer. *CMAJ* 177, 1383-1384(2007)
- 14. D'Avanzo B, La Vecchia C, Franceschi S, Negri E, Talamini R: History of thyroid diseases and subsequent thyroid cancer risk. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev 4*, 193–199(1995)
- 15. Glattre E, Haldorsen T, Berg JP, Stensvold I, Solvoll K: Norwegian case-control study testing the hypothesis that seafood increases the risk of thyroid cancer. *Cancer Causes Control* 4, 11–16(1993)
- 16. Hallquist A, Hardell L, Degerman A, Boquist L: Thyroid cancer: reproductive factors, previous diseases, drug intake, family history and diet. A case control study. *Eur J Cancer Prev* 3, 481–488(1994)
- 17. Kolonel L, Hankin JH, Wilkens LR, Fukunaga FH, Hinds MW: An epidemiologic study of thyroid cancer in Hawaii. *Cancer Causes Control* 1, 223–234(1990)
- 18. Levi F, Franceschi S, La Vecchia C, Negri E, Gulie C, Duruz G, Scazziga B: Previous thyroid disease and risk of thyroid cancer in Switzerland. *Eur J Cancer* 27, 85–88(1991)
- 19. Linos A, Linos DA, Vgotza N, Souvatzoglou A, Koutras DA: Does coffee consumption protect against thyroid disease? *Acta Chir Scand* 155, 317–320(1989)
- 20. McTiernan A, Weiss NS, Daling JR: Incidence of thyroid cancer in women in relation to previous exposure to radiation therapy and history of thyroid disease. *J Natl Cancer Inst.* 73, 575–581(1984)
- 21. Preston-Martin S, Bernstein L, Pike MC, Maldonado AA, Henderson BE: Thyroid cancer among young women related to prior thyroid disease and pregnancy history. *Br J Cancer* 55, 191–195(1987)
- 22. Ron E, Kleinerman RA, Boice JD Jr, LiVolsi VA, Flannery JT, Fraumeni JF Jr: A population-based case-

- control study of thyroid cancer. J Natl Cancer Inst 79, 1-12(1987)
- 23. Wingren G, Hatschek T, Axelson O: Determinants of papillary cancer of the thyroid. *Am J Epidemiol* 138, 482–491(1993)
- 24. Preston-Martin S, Jin F, Duda MJ, Mack WJ: A case-control study of thyroid cancer in women under age 55 in Shanghai (People's Republic of China). *Cancer Causes Control* 4, 431–440(1993)
- 25. Dal Maso L, La Vecchia C, Franceschil S, Preston-Martin S, Ron E, Levi F, Mack W, Mark SD, McTiernan A, Kolonel L, Mabuchi K, Jin F, Wingren G, Galanti MR, Hallquist A, Glattre E, Lund E, Linos D, Negri E: A pooled analysis of thyroid cancer studies. V. Anthropometric factors. *Cancer Causes Control* 11, 137–144(1990)
- 26. Mack W, Preston-Martin S, Bernstein L, Qian D: Lifestyle and other risk factors for thyroid cancer in Los Angeles County females. *Ann Epidemiol*. 12, 395-401(2002)
- 27. Guignard R, Truong T, Rougier Y, Baron-Dubourdieu D, Guenel P: Alcohol drinking, tobacco smoking, and anthropometric characteristics as risk factors for thyroid cancer: a countrywide case-control study in New Caledonia. *Am J Epidemiol* 166, 1140–1149(2007)
- 28. Brindel P, Doyon F, Rachédi F, Boissin JL, Sebbag J, Shan L, Chungue V, Bost-Bezeaud F, Petitdidier P, Paoaafaite J, Teuri J, de Vathaire F: Anthropometric factors in differentiated thyroid cancer in French Polynesia: a case-control study. *Cancer Causes Control*. 20, 581-590(2009)
- 29. Suzuki T, Matsuo K, Hasegawa Y, Hiraki A, Kawase T, Tanaka H, Tajima K: Anthropometric factors at age 20 years and risk of thyroid cancer. *Cancer Causes Control* 19, 1233-1242(2008)
- 30. Iribarren C, Haselkorn T, Tekawa IS, Friedman GD: Cohort study of thyroid cancer in a San Francisco Bay area population. *Int J Cancer* 93, 745–750(2001)
- 31. Rapp K, Schroeder J, Klenk J, Stoehr S, Ulmer H, Concin H, Diem G, Oberaigner W, Weiland SK: Obesity and incidence of cancer: a large cohort study of over 145 000 adults in Austria. *Br J Cancer* 93, 1062-1067(2005)
- 32. Samanic C, Gridley G, Chow WH, Lubin J, Hoover RN, Fraumeni JFJ: Obesity and cancer risk among white and black United States veterans. *Cancer Causes Control* 15, 35–43(2004)
- 33. Samanic C, Chow WH, Gridley G, Jarvholm B, Fraumeni JF Jr: Relation of body mass index to cancer risk in 362,552 Swedish men. *Cancer Causes Control* 17, 901–909(2006)
- 34. Oh S, Yoon YS, Shin SA: Effects of excess weight on cancer incidences depending on cancer sites and histologic

- findings among men: Korea National Health Insurance Corporation Study. *J Clin Oncol* 23, 4742–4754(2005)
- 35. Tulinius H, Sigfusson N, Sigvaldason H, Bjarnadottir K, Tryggvadottir L: Risk factors for malignant diseases: a cohort study on a population of 22,946 Icelanders. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev* 6, 863–873(1997)
- 36. Engeland A, Tretli S, Akslen LA, Bjorge T: Body size and thyroid cancer in two million Norwegian men and women. *Br J Cancer* 95, 366–370(2006)
- 37. Romiti A, Buzzetti R, Salandri A, Festuccia F, Giovannini CA, Santella S, Montesani C, Giovannini C: Tumori della tiroida nell'obesita. *Minerva Endocrinologica*. 1998(23):27-29.(1998)
- 38. Festuccia F, Romiti A, Buzzetti R, Salandri A, Montesani C, Giovannini C, Giovannini C: Tireopatie latenti nell'obesita. *Recenti Progressi in Medicina* 89, 165-168(1998)
- 39. Mijovic T, How J, Pakdaman M, Rochon L, Gologan O, Hier MP, Black MJ, Young J, Tamilia M, Payne RJ: Body Mass Index in the Evaluation of Thyroid Cancer Risk. *Thyroid* 19, 467-472(2009)
- 40. Randi G, Ferraroni M, Talamini R, Garavello W, Deandrea S, Decarli A: Glycemic index, glycemic load and thyroid cancer risk. *Ann Oncol* 19, 380-383(2007)
- 41. Hard G: Recent developments in the investigation of thyroid regulation and thyroid carcinogenesis. *Environ Health Perspect* 106, 427-436(1998)
- 42. Ciampolillo A, De Tullio C, Perlino E, Maiorano E: The IGF-I Axis in Thyroid Carcinoma. *Current Pharmaceutical Design* 13, 729-735(2007)
- 43. Rezzonico J, Rezzonico M, Pusiol E, Pitoia F, Niepomniszcze H: Increased prevalence of insulin resistance in patients with differentiated thyroid carcinoma. *Metabolic Syndrome and Related Disorders* 7, 375-380(2009)
- 44. Russell J, Engiles JB, Rothstein JL: Proinflammatory Mediators and Genetic Background in Oncogene Mediated Tumor Progression. *J Immunol* 172, 4059–4067(2004)
- 45. Cleary M, Grossmann ME: Obesity and Breast Cancer: The Estrogen Connection. *Endocrinol* 150, 2537-2542(2009)
- 46. Cornetta A, Russell JP, Cunnane M, Keane W, Rothstein JL: Cyclooxygenase-2 Expression in Human Thyroid Carcinoma and Hashimoto's Thyroiditis. *Laryngoscope* 112, 238-242(2002)
- 47. Delage B, Rullier A, Capdepont M, Rullier E, Cassand P: The effect of body weight on altered expression of nuclear receptors and cyclooxygenase-2 in human colorectal cancers. *Nutr J* 6, 1-10(2007)

- 48. Garofalo C and Surmacz E: Leptin and cancer. *J Cell Physiol* 207, 12-22(2006)
- 49. Akinci M, Kosova F, Cetin B, Aslan S, Ari Z, Cetin A: Leptin levels in thyroid cancer. *Asian J Surg* 32, 216-223(2009)
- 50. Cheng SP, Chi CW, Tzen CY, Yang TL, Lee JJ, Liu TP, Liu CL: Clinicopathologic significance of leptin and leptin receptor expressions in papillary thyroid carcinoma. *Surgery* 147, 847-853(2010)
- 51. Kelesidis T, Kelesidis I, Chou S, Mantzoros C: Narrative review: the role of leptin in human physiology: emerging clinical applications. *Ann Intern Med* 152, 93-100(2010)
- 52. Bluher S and Mantzoros C: Leptin in humans: lessons from translational research. *Am J Clin Nutr* 89(suppl), 991S-997S(2009)
- 53. Uddin S, Bavi P, Siraj AK, Ahmed M, Al-Rasheed M, Hussain AR, Ahmed M, Amin T, Alzahrani A, Al-Dayel F, Abubaker J, Bu R, Al-Kuraya KS: Leptin-R and its association with PI3K/AKT signaling pathway in papillary thyroid carcinoma. *Endocrine-related cancer* 17, 191-202(2010)
- 54. Nillni EA, Vaslet C, Harris M, Hollenberg A, Bjørbak C, Flier JS: Leptin regulates prothyrotropin-releasing hormone biosynthesis: evidence for direct and indirect pathways. *J Biol Chem* 275, 36124-36133(2000)
- 55. Nowak KW, Kaczmarek P, Mackowiak P, Ziolkowska A, Albertin G, Ginda WJ, Trejter M, Nussdorfer GG, Malendowicz LK: Rat thyroid gland expresses the long form of leptin receptors, and leptin stimulates the function of the gland in euthyroid nonfasted animals. *Int J Mol Med* 9, 31-34(2002)
- 56. Bray G: The underlying basis for obesity: relationship to cancer. *J Nutr* 11 Suppl, 3451S–3455S(2002)
- 57. Chen G, Vlantis AC, Zeng Q, van Hasselt CA: Regulation of cell growth by estrogen signaling and potential targets in thyroid cancer. *Curr Cancer Drug Targets* 8, 367–377(2008)
- 58. Barnett J: The relationship between obesity and breast cancer risk and mortality. *Nutr Rev* 61, 73-76(2003)
- 59. Banu K, Govindarajulu P, Aruldhas M: Testosterone and estradiol have specific differential modulatory effect on the proliferation of human thyroid papillary and follicular carcinoma cell lines independent of TSH function. *Endocr Pathol* 12, 315–327(2001)
- 60. Chan E, Sepkovic DW, Yoo Browne HJ, Yu GP, Schantz SP: A hormonal association between estrogen metabolism and proliferative thyroid disease.

- Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg 134, 893-900(2006)
- 61. Manole D, Schildknecht B, Gosnell B, Adams E, Derwahl M: Estrogen promotes growth of human thyroid tumor cells by different molecular mechanisms. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* 86, 1072–1077(2001)
- 62. La Vecchia C, Ron E, Franceschi S, Dal Maso L, Mark SD, Chatenoud L, Braga C, Preston-Martin S, McTiernan A, Kolonel L, Mabuchi K, Jin F, Wingren G, Galanti MR, Hallquist A, Lund E, Levi F, Linos D, Negri E: A pooled analsis of case-control studies of thyroid cancer III. Oral contraceptives, menopausal replacement therapy and other female hormones. *Cancer Causes Control* 10, 157-166(1999)
- 63. Negri E, Dal Maso L, Ron E, La Vecchia C, Mark SD, Preston-Martin S, McTiernan A, Kolonel L, Yoshimoto Y, Jin F, Wingren G, Rosaria Galanti M, Hardell L, Glattre E, Lund E, Levi F, Linos D, Braga C, Franceschi S: A pooled analysis of case-control studies of thyroid cancer II. Menstrual and reproductive factors *Cancer Causes Control* 10, 143-155(1999)
- 64. Akslen L, Nilssen S, Kvale G: Reproductive factors and risk of thyroid cancer. A prospective study of 63,090 women from Norway. *Br J Cancer* 65, 772-774(1992)
- 65. Brindel P, Doyon F, Rachédi F, Boissin JL, Sebbag J, Shan L, Chungue V, Sun LYK, Bost-Bezeaud F, Petitdidier P, Paoaafaite J, Teuri J, de Vathaire F: Menstrual and reproductive factors in the risk of differentiated thyroid carcinoma in naitive women in French Polynesia: a population-based case-control study. *Am J Epidemiol* 167, 219-229(2007)
- 66. Memon A, Darif M, Al-Saleh K, Suresh A: Epidemiology of reproductive and hormonal factors in thyroid cancer: evidence from a case-control study in the middle east. *Int J Cancer* 97, 82-89(2002)
- 67. Franceschi S, Preston-Martin S, Dal Maso L, Negri E, La Vecchia C, Mack WJ, McTiernan A, Kolonel L, Mark SD, Mabuchi K, Jin F, Wingren G, Galanti R, Hallquist A, Glattre E, Lund E, Levi F, Linos D, Ron E.A pooled analysis of case-control studies of thyroid cancer IV. Benigh thyroid disease. *Cancer Causes Control* 10, 583-595(1999)
- 68. Boelaert K, Horacek J, Holder RL, Watkinson JC, Sheppard MC, Franklyn JA: Serum thyrotropin concentration as a novel predictor of malignancy in thyroid nodules investi- gated by fine-needle aspiration. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* 91, 4295–4301(2006)
- 69. Haymart MR, Repplinger DJ, Leverson GE, Elson DF, Sippel RS, Jaume JC, Chen H: Higher serum thyroid stimulating hormone level in thyroid nodule patients i associated with greater risk of differenciated thyroid cancer and advances tumor stage. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* 93, 809-814(2008)

- 70. Jonklass J, Nsouli-Maktabi H, Soldin SJ: Endogenous thyrotropin and triiodothyronine concentrations in individuals with thyroid cancer. *Thyroid* 18, 943-952(2008)
- 71. Manji N, Boelaert K, Sheppard MC, Holdert RL, Gough and Franklyn JA: Lack of association between serum TSH or free T4 and body mass index in euthyroid subjects. *Clin Endocrinol* 64, 125-128(2006)
- 72. Fox C, Pencina MJ, D'Agostino RB, Murabito JM, Seely EW, Pearce EN, Vasan RS: Relations of thyroid function to body weight. *Arch Intern Med* 168, 587–592(2008)
- 73. Knudsen N, Laurberg P, Rasmussen LB, Bu \square low I, Perrild H, Ovesen L, Jørgensen T: Small differences in thyroid function may be important for body mass index and the occurrence of obesity in the population. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* 90, 4019–4024(2005)
- 74. De Pergola G, Ciampolillo A, Paolotti S, Trerotoli P, Giorgino R: Free triiodothyronine and thyroid stimulating hormone are directly associated with waist circumference, independently of insulin resistance, metabolic parameters and blood pressure in overweight and obese women. *Clin Endocrinol* 67, 265–269(2007)
- 75. Dietlein M, Kahaly G, Kobe C, Schmidt M, Derwahl KM, Schicha H: Obesity, energy regulation and thyroid function: is borderline elevated TSH-level the cause or secondary phenomenon of obesity. *Nuclear-Medizin.* 47, 181-187(2008)
- 76. Bell N, Epstein S, Greene A, Shary J, Oexmann MJ, Shaw S: Evidence for alteration of the vitamin D-endocrine system in obese subjects. *J Clin Invest* 76, 370–373(1985)
- 77. Liel Y, Ulmer E, Shary J, Hollis BW, Bell NH: Low circulating vitamin D in obesity. *Calcif Tissue Int* 43, 199–201(1988)
- 78. Wortsman J, Matsuoka LY, Chen TC, Lu Z, Holick MF: Decreased bioavailability of vitamin D in obesity. *Am J Clin Nutr* 72, 690–693(2000)
- 79. Arunabh S, Pollack S, Yeh J, Aloia JF: Body fat content and 25-hydroxyvitamin D levels in healthy women. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* 88, 157–161(2003)
- 80. Parikh S, Edelman M, Uwaifo GI, Freedman RJ, Semega-Janneh M, Reynolds J, Yanovski JA: The relationship between obesity and serum 1,25-dihydroxy vitamin D concentrations in healthy adults. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* 89, 1196–1199(2004)
- 81. Ford E, Ajani UA, McGuire LC, Liu S: Concentrations of serum vitamin D and the metabolic syndrome among U.S. adults. *Diabetes Care* 28, 1228–1230(2005)
- 82. Konradsen S, Ag H, Lindberg F, Hexeberg S, Jorde R: Serum 1,25-dihydroxy vitamin D is inversely associated with body mass index. *Eur J Nutr* 47, 87–91(2008)

- 83. Liu W, Asa SL, Fantus G, Walfish PG, Ezzat S: Vitamin D arrests thyroid carcinoma cell growth and induces p27 dephosphorylation and accumulation through PTEN=Akt- dependent and -independent pathways. *Am J Pathol* 160, 511–519(2002)
- 84. Okano K, Usa T, Ohtsuru A, Tsukazaki T, Miyazaki Y, Yonekura A, Namba H, Shindoh H, Yamashita S: Effect of 22-oxa-1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 on human thyroid cancer cell growth. *Endocr J* 46, 243–252(1999)
- 85. Penna-Martinez M, Ramos-Lopez E, Stern J, Hinsch N, Hansmann ML, Selkinski I, Grünwald F, Vorländer C, Wahl RA, Bechstein WO, Zeuzem S, Holzer K, Badenhoop K: Vitamin D receptor polymorphisms in differentiated thyroid carcinoma. *Thyroid* 19, 623-628(2009)
- 86. Stepien T, Krupinski R, Sopinski J, Kusdak K, Komorowski J, Lawnicka H, Stepien H: Decreased 1-25 dihydroxyvitamin D3 concentration in peripheral blood serum of patients with thyroid cancer. *Arch Med Res* 41, 190-194(2010)
- 87. Markaki I, Linos D, Linos A: The influence of dietary patterns on the development of thyroid cancer. *Eur J Cancer* 38, 1912-1919(2003)
- 88. Bosetti C, Negri E, Kolonel L et al: A pooled analysis of case-control studies of thyroid cancer. VII Cruciferous and other vegetables (International). *Cancer Causes Control* 13, 765-775(2002)
- 89. Salabe G: Aetiology of thyroid cancer: an epidemiological overview. *Thyroidol Clin* 6, 11-19(1994)
- 90. Truong T, Baron-Dubourdieu D, Rougier Y, Guenel P: Role of dietary iodine and cruciferous vegetables in thyroid cancer: a countrywide case-control study in New Caledonia. *Cancer Causes Control* 21, 1183-1192(2010)
- **Key Words:** Obesity, BMI, Thyroid Neoplasm, Pathogenesis, Etiology, Endocrinology, Insulin, Igf-1, Cytokines, COX-2, Leptin, Adiponectin, Sex Hormones, TSH, Vitamin D, Toxins, Review
- **Send correspondence to:** Richard J. Payne, McGill University, Montreal, Quebec, Canada, Tel: 514-340-8222, Fax: 514-340-7934, E-mail: rkpayne@sympatico.ca

http://www.bioscience.org/current/vol3S.htm